RECEIVED

Jul 21 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge 2771

Appellate Case No. 2024-000868
Case No. 2023-CP-33-00500

Thomas & Nicole Betancourt, Jimmy & Amie Boatwright, and Norman & Kristina Whetzel.....
.....Appellant(s),

v.

City of Mullins Zoning Board and Dr. Todd Blevins of Blevins Dentistry.....Respondent(s)

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT(S)

July 21, 2025

Thomas & Nicole Betancourt
618 S Main Street
Mullins, SC 29574
Telephone: (843) 561-3253
Email: chapnicoleb@gmail.com
Pro Se Appellants

Jimmy Boatwright & Amie Boatwright

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT FAIL TO CONSIDER ALL RELEVANT FACTS PROVIDED AND FAIL TO APPLY THE LAW CORRECTLY IN REACHING AN INFORMED DECISION?
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT IGNORE CRITICAL EVIDENCE FROM THE CASE, THEREBY DENYING THE PLAINTIFFS A FAIR HEARING?
3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT DISMISS CRUCIAL EVIDENCE WITHOUT ANY LOGICAL EXPLANATION AS TO WHY?
4. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE CITY OF MULLINS ZONING BOARD DID NOT VIOLATE THE STATE STATUTES AND LOCAL ORDINANCES, WHILE DISREGARDING THE RULES OF EVIDENCE AND PROCEDURE FOR A FAIR HEARING?
5. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING AGAINST THE PLAINTIFFS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a complaint filed, on September 12, 2023, in Marion County, South Carolina, by Thomas & Nicole Betancourt, Jimmy & Amie Boatwright and Norman & Kristina Whetzel against the City of Mullins Zoning Board and Dr. Todd Blevins of Blevins Dentistry. The application was assigned Docket No. 2023-CP-33-00500. The Complaint was an appeal against the City of Mullins Zoning Board, for the approval of a variance request. On August 29, 2023, the City of Mullins Zoning Board held a special public meeting to approve the variance requested by Todd Blevins, for a non-contiguous parking lot, to be built across the street from his dental practice. Several residents objected citing the Municipal Code of Ordinances/local ordinances (Municode) were violated, and that the City of Mullins did not perform their due diligence in fully and completely researching the variance request. Nor did the City of Mullins have the required Committees in place to take on such tasks. To date, Mullins is still without the required Committees in place.

The Complaint went into thorough detail, with evidence, fully detailing how the City of Mullins Zoning Board failed to follow state statutes and local ordinances and ignored violations.

On October 5, 2023, the attorney for the City of Mullins Zoning Board responded to the Complaint, with “does not have sufficient information or knowledge”, although all facts provided in the Complaint were pulled directly from the City of Mullins Municipal Code of Ordinances. Every City Committee/Board member must have a copy of the entire Municode and be well acquainted with their Municode section(s).

On October 11, 2023, the attorney for Todd Blevins responded to the Complaint, acknowledging and admitting to his approximate 14' x 16' addition built around March 2019 and admitting to his larger, approximate 30' x 31' addition built sometime in early to mid-2020. These two (2) additions adding roughly 1,154 sq ft to his business footprint.

On November 2, 2023, Plaintiffs responded to both the City of Mullins and Todd Blevins, again reiterating to the City of Mullins Zoning Board, with further evidence, their failure to follow state statutes and local ordinances.

On April 22, 2024, a Court Hearing was held via Zoom. All parties were present and discussed the case in front of the Honorable H. Steven Judge DeBerry, IV. The Plaintiffs explained, in depth, the undisputable facts regarding variance requests, procedures and regulations, per state statutes and the Municode. None of these facts were argued by any of the Defendants.

On April 22, 2024, later in the day, the attorney for the City of Mullins Zoning Board, filed with Marion County, a copy of the August 29, 2023, Public Hearing Meeting Minutes along with a never seen before additional "page" written by Spencer Jordan, Chairman of the Zoning Board. This new page is not available online, as all meeting minutes are required, was written in April 2024 (8 months after the public hearing) and certified to be true by Felicia Sawyer-Norton, current City Clerk. It will later be confirmed, through FOIA requests and audio recording, to be completely fabricated.

On April 23, 2024, Plaintiffs responded to the April 22, 2024 filing from the City of Mullins requesting a copy of the audio recording from the August 29th public hearing.

On April 24, 2024, Plaintiffs filed an additional response further emphasizing, with Satellite photos of Todd Blevins actual business parcel, his original footprint, his footprint after his expansions, and his ability to generate more parking on his primary business location.

On May 9, 2024, the parties received Judge DeBerry's Decision respectfully denying the relief sought by the Plaintiffs. Judge DeBerry wrote in his Statement of Judgment that a certified copy of the public hearing findings and discussions were filed and made a part of the record on March 4, 2024. He also stated that the Zoning Board substantially complied with the requirements found in Section 9.3-2 of the Municode. Plaintiffs noted at this point that the certified copy of the public hearing meeting minutes were not filed and made a part of the record until April 22, 2024 when Attorney JP Williams, for the City of Mullins, filed them after the morning court hearing. Plaintiffs also noted that citing the City of Mullins substantially complied with Section 9.3-2, as a generic response, while disregarding all other statutes and local ordinances violated, indicates no consideration was taken into any other evidence.

Defendants were served with the Notice of Appeal on May 22, 2024, appealing the May 9, 2024 Order of the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV.

Just two (2) days later, May 24, 2024, Plaintiffs were compelled to file a Motion for an Emergency Stay Pending Appeal per SC Rule 241(a), wherein the service of a

notice of appeal in a civil matter acts to automatically stay matters decided in the order and to automatically stay the relief ordered in the appealed order, due to the Defendant, Todd Blevins, moving forward with the construction of the parking lot.

This appeal follows with the May 22, 2024 filing of the Notice of Appeal, as well as being a part of the Marion County Motion for an Emergency Stay Pending Appeal May 24, 2024 filing.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Multiple standards apply in reviewing this matter. As set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5), “The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.” On Appeal, the court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

“In determining the questions presented by the appeal, the court must determine only whether the decision of the board is correct as a matter of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-840(A).

A board of adjustment is vested with a wide discretion in determining whether a variance should be granted in a particular case on the ground of unnecessary hardship. *Talbot v. Myrtle Beach Board of Adjustment*, supra, 222 S.C. 165, 72 S.E. (2d) 66. An owner is not entitled to relief from a self-created or self-inflicted hardship. A claim of unnecessary hardship cannot be based on conditions created by the owner nor can one who purchases property after the enactment of a zoning regulation complain that the nonconforming use would work a hardship upon him. A self-created or self-inflicted hardship intentionally created by an owner of premises for the purpose of laying a basis for an application for a variance cannot be considered for

such purpose. Rush v. City of Greenville, 246 S.C. 268, 143 S.E.2d 527 (1965); Georgetown County Building Official v. Lewis, 290 S.C. 513, 351 S.E.2d 584 (Ct. App. 1986); Restaurant Row Associates v. Horry County, supra. Where one purchases realty with the intention to apply for variance, he cannot contend that restrictions caused him such peculiar hardship that entitles him to special privileges which he seeks. Gleason v. Keswick Imp. Association, 197 Md. 46, 78 A. (2d) 164. The decision of the zoning board will not be upheld where it is based on errors of law, or fraud, or where there is no legal evidence to support it, or where the board acts arbitrarily or unreasonably, or in a discriminatory manner or where, in general, the board has abused its discretion. Hodge v. Pollock, 223 S.C. 342, 75 S.E. (2d) 752 (1953). In exercising its discretion, the board of adjustment is not left free to make any determination whatever that appeals to its sense of justice. It must abide by and comply with the standard prescribed by the local ordinance and zoning statutes. Lee v. Board of Adjustment, 226 N.C. 107, 37 S.E. (2d) 128, 168 A.L. R. 1. There is a strong presumption in favor of the validity of municipal zoning ordinances, and in favor of the validity of their application, and where the Planning and Zoning Commission and the city council of a municipality have acted after considering all of the facts, the Court should not disturb the finding unless such action is arbitrary, unreasonable, or in obvious abuse of its discretion, or unless it has acted illegally and in excess of its lawfully delegated authority. The burden of proving the invalidity of a zoning ordinance is on the party attacking it to establish that the acts of the city council were arbitrary, unreasonable and unjust. Bob Jones University v. City of Greenville, 243 S.C. 351, 133 S.E. (2d) 843. In appeals from a Board decision, “the circuit court and

the appellate court ‘must determine only whether the decision of the board is correct as a matter of law’” Bevino v Town of Mount Pleasant Board of Zoning Appeals, 402 S.C. 57, 62, 737 S.E. (2d) 863, 866 (Ct. App 2013). The decision of a municipal zoning board “will be overturned if it is arbitrary, capricious, has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose, or if the board has abused its discretion.” “This Court will not disturb the findings of the Board of Adjustment unless such findings or decision resulted from action of the Board, which is arbitrary, an abuse of discretion, illegal, or in excess of lawfully delegated authority.” Bannum, Inc. v. City of Columbia, 335 S.C. 202 (S.C. 1999).

ARGUMENT

1. THE CITY OF MULLINS ZONING ADMINISTRATOR COLLUDING WITH TODD BLEVINS IS DIRECT ABUSE OF POWER AND VIOLATES STATE STATUTES AND LOCAL ORDINANCES.
2. THE CITY OF MULLINS ZONING BOARD NEGLECTED THEIR RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES FOR WHICH THEY WERE APPOINTED.
3. THE CITY OF MULLINS ZONING BOARD ACCEPTED AND ACTED ON A LIMITED AND INCOMPLETE APPLICATION, IN VIOLATION OF STATE STATUTE AND LOCAL ORDINANCE.
4. THE CITY OF MULLINS ZONING BOARD FAILED TO CONSIDER SPECIFIC FACTORS, AS REQUIRED, PER THE STATE STATUTES AND LOCAL ORDINANCE.
5. THE CITY OF MULLINS ZONING ADMINISTRATOR AND ZONING BOARD FAILING TO APPLY THE LAW CORRECTLY, IN REACHING A DECISION, IS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND POWER.
6. BY EXPEDITING THE PROCESS TO FAVOR THE BUSINESS OWNER, THE CITY OF MULLINS UNLAWFULLY MADE DECISIONS REGARDING THE VARIANCE REQUEST.

By the time the City of Mullins Zoning Board (BZA) held the August 29, 2023 public hearing for Todd Blevins proposed “employee” parking lot, they already violated state statutes and local ordinances.

Prior to any public hearing for a variance request, the individual requesting the variance is required to complete a Variance request permit application. This application, per *S.C. Code Ann § 6-29-800* and *The Municipal Code of Ordinance, Appendix A-Zoning, Section 10.5-Application procedures for change or relief*, must be completely filled out, with all required attachments, and approved by the Zoning Administrator, for completeness, before it is placed on the Zoning Board of Appeals calendar for public hearing. The application must include, but not limited to, the signed completed application, explanation of hardship, supporting documentation for the hardship, application fee, plot plans, surveys, blueprints, landscaping, lighting, drainage, etc.

In addition, the application must provide the required documentation for the specific permit the applicant is applying for. In the Defendants case, he was seeking a permit for “off street parking”. Per the *Municipal Code of Ordinances, Appendix A-Zoning, Article 6-Supplemental Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations, Section 6.1-Off Street Parking*, in *Section 6.1-3 Design Standards*:

- (1) *Parking Dimensions.* Parking stalls shall be not less than nine (9) feet by nineteen (19) feet, except that a maximum of ten percent (10%) of the total number of stalls may be 8.5 feet by eighteen (18) feet. However, the dimensions of all parallel parking stalls shall be not less than nine (9) feet by twenty-four (24) feet.
- (2) *Construction, Paving.* Where 10 or more off street parking stalls are required by this ordinance, such stalls and all ingress and egress drives shall be surfaced with an all-weather, impervious surface material, approved by the Zoning Administrator.
- (3) *Drainage.* Parking lots shall be designed so as not to drain into, across public sidewalks, or on to adjacent property, except into a natural watercourse or a drainage easement.
- (4) *Separation From Walkways and Streets.* Off-street parking spaces shall be separated from walkways, sidewalks, streets, and required yards and buffer areas by a wall, fence, curbing, or other protective device approved by the Zoning Administrator (See Section 4.2-6).
- (5) *Entrances and Exits.* Landscaping, curbing or other approved barriers shall be provided along boundaries to control entrance and exit of vehicles or pedestrians. Except for single-family homes and duplexes, off-street parking areas shall be designed so that all movement on to a public street is in a forward motion. Entrance and exit driveways to public streets in the vicinity of street intersections must be located at least forty (40) feet, measured along the curblines, from the intersection of the nearest curblines.
- (6) *Marking.* Parking lots shall be marked by painted lines, curbs or other means to indicate individual spaces. Signs or markers, as approved by the Zoning Administrator, shall be used as necessary to ensure efficient traffic operation of the lot.
- (7) *Lighting.* Adequate lighting shall be provided if off-street parking spaces are to be used at night. Equipment for lighting parking facilities shall be arranged so that light does not interfere with traffic or adjoining residential areas.
- (8) *Landscaping.* Off-street parking areas shall be landscaped in accord with the provisions of Section 4-2.

Reiterating, none of the above documents required for an “off street permit

application” were supplied with the variance request permit application for review.

Per the *S.C. Code Ann § 6-29-800* (setting forth the powers of a board of zoning appeals), concerning variances, a zoning board of appeals is limited to the following:

(2) to hear and decide appeals for variance from the requirements of the zoning ordinance when strict application of the provisions of the ordinance would result in unnecessary hardship. A variance may be granted in an individual case of unnecessary hardship if the board makes and explains in writing the following findings:

- (a) there are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of property.
- (b) these conditions do not generally apply to other property in the vicinity;
- (c) because of these conditions, the application of the ordinance to the particular piece of property would effectively prohibit or unreasonably restrict the utilization of the property; and
- (d) the authorization of a variance will not be of substantial detriment to adjacent property or to the public good, and the character of the district will not be harmed by the granting of the variance.

(ii) In granting a variance, the board may attach to it such conditions regarding the location, character, or other features of the proposed building, structure, or use as the board may consider advisable to protect established property values in the surrounding area or to promote the public health, safety, or general welfare;

The applicant must also have supporting documentation to prove his unnecessary hardship. The unnecessary hardship may not be a self-inflicted, self-created hardship as cited in *Rush v. City of Greenville*, 246 S.C. 268, 143 S.E.2d 527 (1965). This documentation needs to be included in the variance request permit application.

Pursuant to the City of Mullins Municipal Code of Ordinances (Municode), per *Appendix A-Zoning, Article 9-Establishment, Powers and duties of Officials*,

Commissions and Boards responsible for administration of this ordinance, Section

9.1-Zoning Administrator

- (a) The Zoning Administrator is hereby designated and duly charged with the authority to administer and enforce the provisions of this Ordinance.
- (b) The Zoning Administrator shall accept and examine all applications for construction, land use or reuse, and shall issue permits where such applications are in accord with the provisions of this Ordinance and applicable building codes. He shall direct parties in conflict with this Ordinance, and cause to be kept records and files of any and all matters referred to him.
- (c) If the Zoning Administrator finds that any one of the provisions of this Ordinance is being violated, he shall notify in writing the person responsible for such violation, indicating the nature of the violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it. He shall order discontinuance of illegal use of land, buildings, or structures; removal of illegal buildings or structures or of illegal additions, alterations, or structural changes; discontinuance of any illegal work being done; and shall take any other action authorized by this Ordinance to ensure compliance with or to prevent violation of its provisions.

Article 10-Administration, Application and Required Permits, Section 10.2-Responsibility, explains:

- (a) All requests for permits and licenses required by this Ordinance, and legislative change of relief from the terms of this ordinance shall be in the form of an application. The provisions of this Article shall govern the basic requirements for processing different types of applications from initiation to final action and issuance of permit.
- (b) It shall be the responsibility of the Zoning Administrator or his designee to administer the requirements for processing applications and issuing permits in accord with the provisions of this Ordinance.
- (c) It shall be the responsibility of an applicant to provide the required information to process a permit application, secure or renew a license, and present facts about circumstances which would justify a proposed change or modification to the terms and/or application of this Ordinance.

Section 10.3-Types of Applications:

Types of applications for processing matters subject to the requirements of this Ordinance include:

(a) *Applications for Change or Relief.* This includes applications for changes to and/or relief from any part or provision on this Ordinance, of which there are three types of applications:

1. Amendment - is a change to the text or map of the Ordinance.
2. Variance - is an adjustment or modification of any regulation alleged to impose on unnecessary hardship on the use or development of land.
3. Appeal - is a petition by an applicant to reverse or modify a decision of an administrative officer, board, commission or council.

Section 9.1(b) explains that the **zoning administrator** shall accept and examine all applications. *Section 10.2(b)* explains it is the responsibility of the **zoning administrator** to administer the requirements for processing applications and issuing permits. *Section 10.2(c)* states it is the responsibility of the **applicant** to provide the required information to process a permit application which would justify a proposed change.

Plaintiffs attached in their *July 8, 2024 Reply to Respondents' Memorandum Opposing Supersedeas*, copies of documents received from Curtis Richardson, from the City of Mullins, via Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests. These documents explicitly display, (1) a full and complete permit application was not provided. No supporting documentation, no plans, surveys, blueprints, lighting, drainage, etc. were attached; (2) No written explanation from applicant justifying his "unnecessary hardship" as required in *S.C. Code Ann § 6-29-800*, asserting this hardship is not self-inflicted; and (3) as *Section 10.2(c)* states, it is the responsibility of the **applicant** to provide the required information to justify the change. However, emails received from Curtis, via the same FOIA request, show on 6/5/23, Curtis himself filled out the Variance Request Form, with applicant explanation, and emailed it to Todd Blevins to sign, with a note saying, "...feel free to modify", Todd

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