THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Marion County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2024-000868
Civil Action No. 2023-CP-33-00500

Thomas Betancourt, Nicole Betancourt, Jimmy Boatwright, Arnie Boatwright, Norman Whetzel
and Kristana Whetzel.....Appellants,

v.

City of Mullins Zoning Board, Dr. Todd Blevins and Blevins Dentistry.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Florence, South Carolina

TURNER, PADGET, GRAHAM & LANEY, P.A.

July 14, 2025

J. René Josey (S.C. Bar #3230)
Post Office Box 5478
Florence, SC 29502
Phone: (843) 656-4451

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

ARGUMENT

I. GIVING GREAT DEFERENCE TO “THOSE CHARGED WITH INTERPRETING AND APPLYING LOCAL ZONING ORDINANCES,” THE DECISION OF THE MULLINS ZBA WAS NOT ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS AND IT DID HAVE EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.

Statutory Hardship Evaluated By Local ZBA -- Not Appellants

The ZBA has the statutory power to "to hear and decide appeals for variance from the requirements of the zoning ordinance when strict application of the provisions of the ordinance would result in *unnecessary hardship*." S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800(A)(2)(emphasis added). "The exercise of police power under a municipal ordinance is subject to judicial correction only if the action is arbitrary and has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose." Town of Scranton v. Willoughby, 306 S.C. 421, 422, 412 S.E.2d 424, 425 (1991) (*per curium*).

Considerable local effort has gone into addressing the issues that were raised before the ZBA resulting in a decision. The City Building Official¹¹ has met with the parties¹² and studied the matter. Dr. Blevins has made his plans, met with persons, and set forth his proposal. The

¹¹ Appellants suggest, Appellant's Brief, p. 19, that the same person cannot serve the small town of Mullins as both Building Inspector and Zoning Administrator because "from the start, abuse of discretion was present." Appellants cite no authority for this proposition. Respondents disagree and recognize the reality of small-town staffing.

¹² Indeed, the Appellant represented to the Circuit Court that she "had numerous meetings with Curtis trying to go over the Municode with him" and had "meetings with Mayor Woodbury." R.p. 44 line 25 to p.45 line 2 (Circuit Court appeal transcript). Public service is not illegal collusion. Appellants impliedly suggest that the City Building Administrator should not be helpful to a taxpaying applicant lest they be accused of "collusion". Appellant's Brief, p. 17 ("Collusion and abuse of discretion from the Zoning Administrator is irrefutably present."). Appellants hyperbolically declare the application signed by Dr. Blevins to be without "authority", "tampered with" and subject to being "invalidated" because of the City official's polite constituent service. Appellant's Brief, p. 20. However, there is no proof in this record (nor could there be) that the ZBA decision was the result of such benign public assistance. Moreover, the written record confirms the appropriate consideration of statutory factors. In a similar way, this Court's staff has been helpful to the *pro se* Appellants with their repeated procedural missteps but such public service is *not* illegal collusion.

Appellants have been heard. It is perhaps inevitable that an outcome could not satisfy all. Nevertheless, there has been an open adjudicative process at the city level by appropriate locally-informed persons with a final outcome; the review of that outcome is necessarily very limited.¹³ A patient Circuit Court heard from the Appellants and affirmed the wisdom of the ZBA.

Statutory Factors: An Objective & Organic Hardship -- Fixable By Variance Without Harm

“Unnecessary hardship” is not defined in the statute,¹⁴ but it is a need that arises from “extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of property.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800(A)(2)(a) (element one). It is a need that is unique and “[does] not generally apply to other property in the vicinity.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800(A)(2)(b) (element two). It is a need that, if unaddressed, “would effectively prohibit or unreasonably restrict the utilization of the property” and could be addressed by varying from “the application of the ordinance to the particular piece of property.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800(A)(2) (c) (element three). Finally, the ZBA is charged with finding that “the authorization of a variance will not be of substantial

¹³ “On appeal, the findings of fact by the [Zoning] Board shall be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury, and the court may not take additional evidence.” Wyndham Enters., LLC v. City of N. Augusta, 401 S.C. 144, 147, 735 S.E.2d 659, 661 (Ct.App.2012) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-840(A) (Supp.2011)). “In reviewing the questions presented by the appeal, the court shall determine only whether the decision of the [Zoning] Board is correct as a matter of law.” *Id.* at 147-48, 735 S.E.2d at 661. “Furthermore, ‘[a] court will refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if it disagrees with the decision.’ ” *Id.* at 148, 735 S.E.2d at 661 (citing Rest. Row Assocs. v. Horry Cty., 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999)).

¹⁴ As Justice Toal wrote in Rest. Row Assocs., 335 S.C. at 215, 516 S.E.2d at 445, “In South Carolina, “The courts have never undertaken to formulate an all-inclusive definition of ‘unnecessary hardship’. Although it has been stated that the phrase should be given a reasonable construction, it is recognized that it does not lend itself to precise definitions automatically resolving every case.” Stevenson v. Board of Adjustment of City of Charleston, 230 S.C. 440, 448, 96 S.E.2d 456, 460 (1957); Application of Groves, 226 S.C. 459, 463, 85 S.E.2d 708, 709-10 (1955); Hodge v. Pollock, 223 S.C. 342, 348, 75 S.E.2d 752, 754 (1953). As our courts have stated, a statutory “unnecessary hardship” does not require proof there exists “no feasible conforming use”. Our supreme court] has upheld the granting of variances where there were feasible conforming uses of the property.” *Id.* at 217, 516 S.E.2d at 446. Indeed, as trial court noted in his order denying supersedeas, more “worrisome”, but conforming, uses could be made of the commercially zoned vacant property – other than a small well-landscaped and lighted daytime parking pad for dental clinic employees.

detriment to adjacent property or to the public good, and the character of the district will not be harmed by the granting of the variance.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800(A)(2) (d) (element four). The wisdom of the flexibility of these statutory provisions is demonstrated in this case.

Here, the ZBA had the written application for variance signed by Dr. Blevins stating the need for additional non-contiguous parking to serve the dental clinic property. R.pp.83-87 (application). The variance was for the original clinic property – which because of long-term growth and investment presented “extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of property” and its continued use. (addressing element one)

In addition to the application itself, the ZBA heard about the need for the non-contiguous parking lot to service the dental clinic from witnesses at the hearing – Dr. Blevins and six other speakers identified in the hearing minutes. R.p. 115. In addition, the City Building Official “noted the need for the parking lot and the restrictions it would have.” R.p. 115. As the Chairman summarized, the Building Official testified that “Given the growth of [Dr. Blevins’] business and staffing his request for said variance is to ensure that public parking is available for customers and private parking for staff only.” R.p. 117.

As the Building Official documented in the record here, there are several “extraordinary and exceptional conditions” unique to the proposed non-contiguous parking tract as well such as: it was already zoned for commercial use; and it was directly across the street from the building it would serve. Simply stated, the new lot was uniquely suited to serve the need of the original location without changing the zoning or character of other properties. Moreover, the original clinic property would suffer a peculiar harm of diminished utilization if the variance were not approved. (addressing elements two and three).

The Red-Herring of a Self-Created Hardship

In contrast to the actual need stated in the application, demonstrated to the Building Official, witnessed to at the ZBA hearing, and documented in the ZBA written record, and no-doubt observable to the local public, the Appellants' Complaint and Brief relies upon distinguishable case catch-phrases such as "personal preference" (R.p. 15, Complaint ¶ 14), "self-inflicted", and "self-created" (R.p.15, Complaint ¶ 15) to suggest that no statutory hardship exists and that the variance application was therefore inappropriately considered by the ZBA. *See also* Appellants' Brief, pp. 14, 17, 20-21; R.p. 39 line 16 to p. 41 line 1 (Transcript of Circuit Court Web X hearing). Appellants' shallow reliance upon these case catch-phrases is inconsistent with the facts: inconsistent with the region's genuine need for local dental care and inconsistent with the true organic hardship here which the statute wisely suggests may arise from "extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of property."

While Blevins may have purchased the new property with notice of the contiguous parking requirement for any new business established upon that new property, the "hardship" is not to that property; the hardship is to the clinic's continued use of the original clinic property where investment and growth has been over decades – as those on the local ZBA know first-hand. Again, the variance is to allow non-contiguous parking on the new lot to serve the original clinic property. The hardship is not to Blevins \$13,249 investment in a vacant lot – the hardship is to the clinic's continued public service through the much larger investment in services, employment, and technology at the clinic across the street. The local ZBA understood this and approved the clinics non-contiguous parking lot. **There certainly is nothing in the record to support the silly notion that decades of growth and increased services were all done where Dr. Blevins could one day seek a non-contiguous parking variance that he "self-created".**

In contrast to such a silly notion, *the real hardship would be* unnecessarily relocating a dental clinic, with all its corresponding sensitive technical equipment, fixtures, and operatories, away from an existing location – a location convenient and known to the local resident patients of Mullins – when a statutorily authorized variance would avoid the hardship. *The real hardship would be*, as the Appellants Complaint baldly suggest, — “scheduling of appointments” to “spread [them] out” and “extend hours” (R.p.16, Appellants Complaint ¶17) – when Appellants have no clue when staffing is available or when patients want to receive dental services. *The real hardship would be* relocating landscaped, tactful, and attractive signage from the front lawn of the existing clinic¹⁵ so that the front lawn could be turned into congested off-street parking backing directly into Main Street.¹⁶

Moreover, the catch-phrase cases so heavily relied upon by Appellants are easily distinguishable. Unlike the developer in Rush v. City of Greenville, 246 S.C. 268, 143 S.E.2d 527 (1965), who purchased new property unrelated to any prior property’s use and *quickly acted* upon acquisition to change some of the new property’s zoning classification from residential to commercial (the western tail of the property),¹⁷ the Respondent Blevins has a *lengthy commitment*

¹⁵ As admitted by the Appellant Betancourt at the Circuit Court hearing, “the front of [the clinic] looks more like a home than anything else.” R.p. 41 lines 16-17. *See also* R. pp. 120-123 and R. pp. 126-127 (Circuit Court Exhibits B and D filed November 8, 2023 by Appellants in support of their Complaint).

¹⁶ Despite feigning concern for the residential character of the neighborhood around her commercial electrical location, R.p. 41 lines 2-10, Appellant Betancourt specifically urged the Circuit Court that the Blevins clinic “instead of having grass and landscaping he should be putting the parking lot there....” R.p. 41 lines 23-25.

¹⁷ At the Circuit Court appeal, the developer testified that he was going to construct a large commercial building across the width of the Augusta Road side of the property and use the back strip as an access off of Old Augusta Road. 246 S.C. at 274; 143 S.E. 2d at 529. However, the day after success in the Circuit Court case, the developer/buyer applied to the City for a restaurant permit for a building of much smaller size. This application was withdrawn, however, when the

(decades) to the City of Mullins and the dental clinic location specifically. As noted by the Appellants, the Respondent Blevins first established his clinic location and then expanded its footprint twice over a period of years. Brief pp. 6, 20-21 and R.p.14 (Complaint ¶¶ 12-13). Also, unlike Rush, when Respondent Blevins acquired the subject property across the street, *it was already zoned commercial*, and Respondent Blevins has *not* sought to change the fundamental zoning character of the property. Indeed, he is seeking to preserve the character, appearance, and now long-time utilization of his original clinic property.

Georgetown County Building Official v. Lewis, 290 S.C. 513, 351 S.E.2d 584 (1986), involved a prospective property purchase and parcel division for a use allowed by the zoning (an unstaffed fiberoptic substation) but prohibited by a County Ordinance requiring a 50- foot minimum street frontage. Unlike here, the claimed hardship was not created by any objective and organic growth of the original property's use. Indeed, the hardship did not relate to the property use at all – only its division.

Restaurant Row Associates v. Horry County, 335 S.C. 209, 516 S.E.2d 442 (1999), involved an effort to obtain variance in order to locate an adult entertainment business next to a residential neighborhood in violation of a zoning plan set-back requirement. The zoning plan was specifically part of a County Ordinance establishing adult entertainment zoning regulations. Unlike Restaurant Row, here we are not dealing with adult entertainment and we are not dealing with two conflicting zoned properties (both the clinic and the parking lot are zoned the same – allowing for commercial uses). Obviously, Restaurant Row was not dealing with non-contiguous parking to serve objective and organic growth on a related adjacent property.

City sought to use it to rescind the existing Circuit Court order. 246 S.C. at 275; 143 S.E. 2d at 530.

Moreover, moving an adult entertainment venue does not present the same logistical difficulties of technology, equipment, fixtures involved with dental operatories – nor does a club move present a disruption to needed community based medical services.

The Fourth Element: Lack of Harm

The Fourth Statutory element in the statutory analysis is the lack of harm. In this record, there *is* evidentiary support for the ZBA finding of the fourth element as well. The City’s Building Official testified that irrigation and drainage, one of many speculative concerns thrown out by Appellants, “will not pose a problem.” R.p. 117. The Official also testified that the inclusion of fencing and lighting would eliminate public safety concerns. R.p. 117. Finally, the Official confirmed that all plans would have to be approved by him for code and regulation compliance. R.p. 117. The non-contiguous *use* of the parking lot, as approved by the ZBA and affirmed by the Circuit Court, has not been shown harmful in any way. *To the contrary*, the City Building Official testified that the proposed use was consistent with the desired growth of City of Mullins’ businesses. R.p.117.

Further Fact Finding Not Necessary, Appellants Simply Dissatisfied

Having heard from the Appellants, the Respondent Blevins and other supporters, and the Zoning Administrator, the ZBA decision simply found the testimony of the Respondent/Applicant and the Zoning Administrator more credible which is precisely what the fact-finding body is supposed to do – assess the credibility of the witnesses and weigh the evidence. Appellants’ superficial argument is that such fact-finding is only arbitrary and careless because the ZBA “took Curtis’s [the Zoning Administrator] words as fact” (Appellants’ Brief p. 22); but, that fact-finding is precisely the role of this local administrative body and precisely the

type of decision entitled to judicial deference as recognized by the limited scope of review set forth in the statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-840, and followed by the trial court.

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